Contents
Pages
CORPORATE INFORMATION

2

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT AND MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

3-8
9-10

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

11-22

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

23-35

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

36-37

AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Consolidated:
Statement of profit or loss

38-39

Statement of comprehensive income
Statement of financial position
Statement of changes in equity
Statement of cash flows

40
41-42
43
44-45

Company:
Statement of financial position

46

Notes to the financial statements

47-132

ICUBE TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED 2013-2014 ANNUAL REPORT

1

Corporate Information
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

REGISTERED OFFICE

Wong Howard (Chairman &
Chief Executive Officer)
Wong Yat Fai

Clarendon House
2 Church Street
Hamilton HM 11
Bermuda

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS
Tung Tat Chiu, Michael
Li Chi Ming
Kwok Chi Kwong

AUDIT COMMITTEE
Tung Tat Chiu, Michael (Chairman)
Li Chi Ming
Kwok Chi Kwong

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Li Chi Ming (Chairman)
Tung Tat Chiu, Michael
Kwok Chi Kwong

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Wong Howard (Chairman)
Wong Yat Fai
Tung Tat Chiu, Michael
Li Chi Ming
Kwok Chi Kwong

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL
PLACE OF BUSINESS
Room 1603-05
Harcourt House
39 Gloucester Road
Wanchai, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR
MUFG Fund Services
(Bermuda) Limited
26 Burnaby Street
Hamilton HM 11
Bermuda

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE
REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER
OFFICE
Tricor Tengis Limited
Level 22
Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East
Hong Kong

COMPANY SECRETARY
Szeto Pui Tong, Patrick

COMPANY’S WEBSITE
www.icubetech.com.hk

AUDITORS
Ernst & Young

STOCK CODE
139

PRINCIPAL BANKERS
The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking
Corporation Limited
Hang Seng Bank Limited

2

ICUBE TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED 2013-2014 ANNUAL REPORT

Chairman’s Statement and
Management Discussion and Analysis
BUSINESS REVIEW
The Group for the year (the “Year”) recorded revenue of HK$36.1 million, representing an
increase of HK$21.1 million or 140.3% as compared the last corresponding year. The increase
in revenue was mainly attributable to the realized gains on the disposal of listed securities of
HK$26.0 million in the treasury investment segment. The net loss for the Year decreased by
HK$9.9 million or 55.6% to HK$7.9 million as compared to the last corresponding year. It was
mainly attributable to the fair value gains on the derivative component of convertible bonds of
HK$10.3 million, the unrealized gains and realized gains on the listed securities of HK$31.4
million and HK$26.0 million respectively in the treasury investment segment.
According to the report published by the Technology Institute of PwC in September 2013,
Mainland China’s semiconductor consumption market grew by 8.7% in 2012 to reach a new
record of 52.5% of the global market despite a 2.6% decrease in the worldwide consumption
semiconductor market for the same year. The main reason for this exceptional growth was
a result of Mainland China’s dominant position in the production of smartphones and media
tablets. Since 2001, Mainland China semiconductor consumption has grown at approximately
22.9% compounded annual growth rate (CAGR) while the total worldwide consumption has
grown at a 6.9% CAGR.
Mainland China’s semiconductor consumption market continues to grow significantly faster than
the worldwide market as a result of two driving factors – the continuing transfer of worldwide
electronic equipment production to Mainland China and the above-average semiconductor
content of that equipment, the growth in Mainland China’s semiconductor continues to outpace
the rest of the world. In 2012, Mainland China’s electronic equipment production increased
by US$42 billion while the electronic equipment production in the rest of the world decreased
marginally. Consequently, Mainland China’s share of worldwide electronic equipment production
increased by 2% to 34.2% and is forecasted to increase to more than 40% by 2017. In addition,
the semiconductor content of Mainland China‘s equipment production was 26% in 2012 well
above the 20% worldwide average. The market trend of mobile internet and open-sourced
development have continued to have a great impact in guiding the future direction of the market.
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Chairman’s Statement and
Management Discussion and Analysis
The Group has principally engaged in the design, research and development on its proprietary
System-on-chip (SoC) technology that enabled a wide range of applications for mobile
computing, communications, and other electronic devices including consumer electronic
products and home appliances. The core architecture in development is a Multi-Threaded
Virtual Pipeline (MVP) on a scalable and programmable stream processor core, which is new
core architecture for high computation performance based on multi-processing and parallel
computing. ICube’s MVP is an independently developed “China Core” featuring the versatility
of a unified processor, combining the capabilities of a central processing unit (CPU) and
graphics processing unit (GPU) in one solution for Mainland China’s vast consumer electronics
market. The Group’s development of this new processing architecture has revolutionized
mobile computing by unrolling its Harmony Unified Processor Technology, which contains an
independent Instruction-Set-Architecture with optimized compiler, the MVP parallel computing
core and dynamic load balancing with Agile Switching of simultaneously-multi-threading (SMT)
threads.
During the Year, the Group continued to formulate a plan to roll out its MVP based SoC in a
variety of applications. As a testament to our continued efforts in research and development of
MVP based SoC, the Group continued to receive funds from reputable government organization
to launch its Unified Processor Unit (UPU) technology on its self-developed SoC. Meanwhile,
the Group has actively collaborated with several reputable electrical and home appliance
manufacturers to develop smart touch control panel solutions, targeting the huge consumer
electronics and home appliances market. These smart touch technology solutions under
development is able to facilitate shifting the finger multi-touch functionality so common in the
smartphone and tablet markets to the electrical appliances market. During the Year, a great deal
of product design and engineering efforts have been made in the new products development,
and the smart touch control panel was also undergoing qualifications for production and demo
trials with potential customers.
Amid the slow economic recovery and weak customer sentiment in Europe and United States
markets, the sales demand for electronic products in export market was generally slow and flat.
Coupled with the intensified market competition and lower demand for the new smart phone
models in the local retail market, the local sales orders for the electronic accessories declined
dramatically. During the Year, the Group operated its electronic products trading business in a
difficult trading environment. To react to this, the Group has placed more efforts in sourcing new
higher-margin products and broadening the existing products range. For the Year, the sales
revenue from the electronic products segment decreased by HK$6.5 million or 40.6% to HK$9.5
million. The operating loss for this segment for the Year decreased by HK$0.4 million or 8.7% to
HK$4.0 million.
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Chairman’s Statement and
Management Discussion and Analysis
The Group continued to utilise its available funds in treasury investment. During the Year, the
local stock market remained volatile and exhibited considerable fluctuation. Adversely affected
by the US Federal Reserve’s asset tapering discussion and the economic slowdown in Mainland
China, The Hang Seng Index hit a bottom in June. With signs of gradual economic recovery in
the United States and Europe and fiscal measures taken by US Federal Reserve and European
Central Bank, the local stock market recovered lost ground and finished with almost same level
with last year. The treasury investment segment recorded a realised gain on disposal of equity
investments of HK$26.0 million and an unrealised gain on equity investments of HK$31.4 million
for the Year.

PROSPECTS
The worldwide tablet shipments totaled 217.1 million units in 2013 which is up from 144.2 million
units in 2012, representing year over year growth rate of 50.6%. Worldwide tablets market,
inclusive of both tablets and 2 in 1 devices, is forecast to grow 19.4% in 2014 to reach 260.9
million units and increase to 383.8 million units in 2018. It is expected that tablet shipments will
exceed total PC shipments by 2015. Low-cost tablet devices will drive interest worldwide and
fuel uptake amongst first buyers in commercial sectors.
For the year to come, the Group will continue its efforts in strengthening its MVP technology
and expanding its applications to a wide array of products in semiconductor market particularly,
the consumer electronic and home appliances sectors. Smart Home Electronic Devices is an
emerging application sector in the semiconductor and information technology industry. The
Group will strive to focus on developing applications of its MVP based SoC technology for the
smart touch control solutions. More new products with smart touch control solution features will
be launched in the pipeline. With the low cost, low-power consumption and higher performance
in UPU technology, the Group is well-positioned to capitalize on growth opportunities in the
emerging smart home electronics market.
Looking ahead, with the economies led by the US expected to see improvement and the
Eurozone economy emerged from recession, the global economy is expected to recover
and improve. However, the threat from the uncertain US monetary policies and the ultra-low
interest environment remain the key factors dragging on global economic recovery. The broad
macroeconomic challenge still persists, the Group will continue to be on the alert and to pursue a
prudent investment strategy in developing its existing and new businesses.
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Report of the Directors
The directors present their report and the audited financial statements of the Company and the
Group for the year ended 31 March 2014.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of the
subsidiaries during the year consisted of the trading and distribution of electronic products and
other merchandise, securities investment and trading, and the research and development of
integrated circuit technology.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS
The Group’s loss for the year ended 31 March 2014 and the state of affairs of the Company and
the Group at that date are set out in the financial statements on pages 38 to 132.
The directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend in respect of the year.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION
A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years, as
extracted from the published audited financial statements, is set out below. This summary does
not form part of the audited financial statements.
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Report of the Directors
SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)
RESULTS

2014
HK$’000

Year ended 31 March
2013
2012
2011
HK$’000
HK$’000
HK$’000

2010
HK$’000

Revenue

36,119

15,030

(10,151)

26,210

39,695

Loss before tax
Tax

(7,906)
–

(17,723)
(79)

(167,486)
–

(53,796)
–

(57,966)
–

5,404
(13,310)

(6,199)
(11,603)

(156,601)
(10,885)

(46,416)
(7,380)

(57,966)
–

(7,906)

(17,802)

(167,486)

(53,796)

(57,966)

As at 31 March
2013
2012
2011
HK$’000
HK$’000
HK$’000

2010
HK$’000

Profit/(Loss) for the year
attributable to
Ordinary equity holders
of the parent
Non-controlling interests

Assets and liabilities

2014
HK$’000

12

Total assets
Total liabilities

295,713
167,024

146,519
149,850

197,603
191,357

320,111
199,244

366,502
197,828

Net assets/(liabilities)

128,689

(3,331)

6,246

120,867

168,674
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Report of the Directors
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Company and the Group
during the year are set out in note 13 to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of movements in the Company’s share capital are set out in note 26 to the financial
statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s bye-laws or the Companies
Act 1981 of Bermuda which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis
to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED SECURITIES OF THE
COMPANY
Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold any of the
Company’s listed securities during the year.

RESERVES
Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during the year are set out
in note 27 to the financial statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in equity,
respectively.
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Report of the Directors
DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
At 31 March 2014, the Company had no reserves available for distribution. The Company’s share
premium account and capital reserve, with an aggregate balance of HK$862,779,000, may be
distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
In the year under review, sales of electronic products to the Group’s five largest customers
accounted for 99% of the sales from the electronic products segment for the year and sales to
the largest customer included therein amounted to 58%. Purchases of electronic products from
the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for 98% of the total purchases from the electronic
products segment for the year and the largest supplier included therein amounted to 80%.
None of the directors of the Company or any of their close associates or any shareholders
(which, to the best knowledge of the directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued
share capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest customers or suppliers.

DIRECTORS
The directors of the Company during the year were:
Executive directors:
Mr. Wong Howard
Mr. Wong Yat Fai
Independent non-executive directors:
Mr. Tung Tat Chiu, Michael
Mr. Li Chi Ming
Mr. Wan Ngar Yin, David (resigned on 10 January 2014)
Mr. Kwok Chi Kwong (appointed on 10 January 2014)
In accordance with Clause 98 of the bye-laws of the Company, Mr. Wong Howard and Mr. Li Chi
Ming, two of the existing directors of the Company, will retire from office by rotation at the 2014
annual general meeting (the “2014 AGM”). In addition, in accordance with Clause 103(B) of the
bye-laws of the Company, Mr. Kwok Chi Kwong will retire from office at the 2014 AGM. All of the
above three retiring directors of the Company, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election
at the 2014 AGM.

14
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Report of the Directors
The Company has received annual confirmations of independence from Mr. Tung Tat Chiu,
Michael, Mr. Li Chi Ming and Mr. Kwok Chi Kwong as at the date of this report still considers
them to be independent pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES
Biographical details of the directors of the Company and the senior management of the Group
are set out on pages 9 to 10 of the annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
Each of Mr. Wong Howard and Mr. Wong Yat Fai has a service contract with the Company for a
term of two years commencing on 1 February 2013 and 1 April 2013, respectively.
Mr. Tung Tat Chiu, Michael and Mr. Li Chi Ming have been appointed for a fixed term of one year
commencing on 27 September 2013.
Mr. Kwok Chi Kwong has been appointed for a fixed term of one year commencing on 10
January 2014.
All directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting in
accordance with the bye-laws of the Company.
Apart from the foregoing, no director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service contract with the Company which is not determinable by the Company
within one year without payment, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
The directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at general meetings. Other emoluments
are determined by the Company’s board of directors with reference to directors’ duties,
responsibilities and performance and the results of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS
Save as disclosed above, no director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in
any contract of significance to the business of the Group to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party during the year.
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Report of the Directors
SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
The Company currently operates share option schemes for the purpose of providing incentives
and rewards to eligible participants (including but not limited to the directors and employees of
the Group) who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Details of the Scheme are
set out in note 29 to the financial statements.
The Company’s old share option scheme adopted on 27 August 2003 was expired on 27 August
2013. In order to continue to provide incentives and rewards to the eligible participants, the
Company adopted a new share option scheme on 27 September 2013.
A summary of the movements of the share options granted during the year ended 31 March
2014 is set out as follows:–

Name or category
of participant
Director
Mr. Wong Howard

Mr. Wong Yat Fai

16

Number of
Number of
Number of
share options share options share options
outstanding
granted
forfeited/
at 1 April
during lapsed during
2013
the Year(3)
the Year

Number of
share options
Number of
exercised/
share options
cancelled
outstanding at
during Adjustment for
31 March
the Year Rights Issue
2014

1,400,000
1,400,000
1,400,000
1,400,000
1,400,000
1,400,000
1,400,000
1,400,000
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
4,000,000
4,000,000

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

400,000
400,000
400,000
400,000
400,000
400,000
400,000
400,000
–
–

1,800,000
1,800,000
1,800,000
1,800,000
1,800,000
1,800,000
1,800,000
1,800,000
4,000,000
4,000,000

11,200,000

8,000,000

–

–

3,200,000

22,400,000

500,000
500,000
500,000
500,000
900,000
900,000
900,000
900,000
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
1,500,000
1,500,000

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

142,857
142,857
142,857
142,857
257,142
257,142
257,142
257,142
–
–

642,857
642,857
642,857
642,857
1,157,142
1,157,142
1,157,142
1,157,142
1,500,000
1,500,000

5,600,000

3,000,000

–

–

1,599,996

10,199,996

Date of
grant of
share options

Adjusted
Exercise price exercise price
of share
of share
options before options after
the Rights
the Rights
Exercise period
Issue(2)
Issue(2)
of share options(1) (HK$ per share) (HK$ per share)

18/7/2011
18/7/2011
18/7/2011
18/7/2011
8/1/2013
8/1/2013
8/1/2013
8/1/2013
18/2/2014
18/2/2014

1/1/2012-31/12/2016
1/1/2013-31/12/2016
1/1/2014-31/12/2016
1/1/2015-31/12/2016
1/7/2013-31/12/2017
1/7/2014-31/12/2017
1/7/2015-31/12/2017
1/7/2016-31/12/2017
18/2/2014-31/12/2017
18/2/2015-31/12/2017

0.620
0.620
0.620
0.620
0.325
0.325
0.325
0.325
–
–

0.4822
0.4822
0.4822
0.4822
0.2528
0.2528
0.2528
0.2528
0.195
0.195

18/7/2011
18/7/2011
18/7/2011
18/7/2011
8/1/2013
8/1/2013
8/1/2013
8/1/2013
18/2/2014
18/2/2014

1/1/2012-31/12/2016
1/1/2013-31/12/2016
1/1/2014-31/12/2016
1/1/2015-31/12/2016
1/7/2013-31/12/2017
1/7/2014-31/12/2017
1/7/2015-31/12/2017
1/7/2016-31/12/2017
18/2/2014-31/12/2017
18/2/2015-31/12/2017

0.620
0.620
0.620
0.620
0.325
0.325
0.325
0.325
–
–

0.4822
0.4822
0.4822
0.4822
0.2528
0.2528
0.2528
0.2528
0.195
0.195
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Name or category
of participant
Other employees
In aggregate

Total

Number of
Number of
Number of
share options share options share options
outstanding
granted
forfeited/
at 1 April
during lapsed during
2013
the Year(3)
the Year

Number of
share options
Number of
exercised/
share options
cancelled
outstanding at
during Adjustment for
31 March
the Year Rights Issue
2014

5,938,000
5,938,000
5,920,000
5,916,000
300,000
300,000
300,000
300,000
11,224,000
11,224,000
11,224,000
11,220,000
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
12,720,000
12,720,000
2,370,000
2,390,000

(87,427)
(87,427)
(84,855)
(82,284)
–
–
–
–
(1,684,282)
(1,684,282)
(1,684,282)
(1,684,282)
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

1,696,561
1,696,561
1,691,417
1,690,276
85,714
85,714
85,714
85,714
3,206,826
3,206,826
3,206,826
3,205,683
–
–
–
–

7,547,134
7,547,134
7,526,562
7,523,992
385,714
385,714
385,714
385,714
12,746,544
12,746,544
12,746,544
12,741,401
12,720,000
12,720,000
2,370,000
2,390,000

69,804,000

30,200,000

(7,079,121)

–

19,943,832

112,868,711

86,604,000

41,200,000

(7,079,121)

–

24,743,828

145,468,707

Date of
grant of
share options
18/7/2011
18/7/2011
18/7/2011
18/7/2011
8/9/2011
8/9/2011
8/9/2011
8/9/2011
8/1/2013
8/1/2013
8/1/2013
8/1/2013
18/2/2014
18/2/2014
18/2/2014
18/2/2014

Adjusted
Exercise price exercise price
of share
of share
options before options after
the Rights
the Rights
Exercise period
Issue(2)
Issue(2)
of share options(1) (HK$ per share) (HK$ per share)
1/1/2012-31/12/2016
1/1/2013-31/12/2016
1/1/2014-31/12/2016
1/1/2015-31/12/2016
1/1/2012-31/12/2016
1/1/2013-31/12/2016
1/1/2014-31/12/2016
1/1/2015-31/12/2016
1/7/2013-31/12/2017
1/7/2014-31/12/2017
1/7/2015-31/12/2017
1/7/2016-31/12/2017
18/2/2014-31/12/2017
18/2/2015-31/12/2017
18/2/2016-31/12/2017
18/2/2017-31/12/2017

0.620
0.620
0.620
0.620
0.620
0.620
0.620
0.620
0.325
0.325
0.325
0.325
–
–
–
–

0.4822
0.4822
0.4822
0.4822
0.4822
0.4822
0.4822
0.4822
0.2528
0.2528
0.2528
0.2528
0.195
0.195
0.195
0.195

Notes:
(1)

The vesting period of the share options is from the date of grant until the commencement of the
exercise period.

(2)

The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in case of rights or bonus issues, or
other similar changes in the Company’s share capital.

(3)

The closing price of the Company’s shares immediately before the date of offer on 6 February 2014
was HK$0.225.
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Report of the Directors
DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF
THE COMPANY
As at 31 March 2014, the interests of the directors of the Company in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(the “SFO”)), as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
were as follows:–
(1)

Long position in ordinary shares of the Company
Number of
ordinary shares
interested

Percentage* of
the Company’s
issued share capital

Name of director

Capacity

Mr. Wong Howard

Interest held by
a controlled
corporation

408,000,000
(Note)

20.06%

Beneficial owner

12,779,400

0.63%

420,779,400

20.69%

12,779,400

0.63%

Mr. Wong Yat Fai

Beneficial owner

Note: These shares were held by Allied Way International Limited (“Allied Way”). Allied Way is a
company incorporated in Hong Kong, the entire issued capital of which is owned as to
50% by Mr. Wong Howard and 50% by his spouse, Ms. Cheung Mei Yee, Rebacca (“Ms.
Rebacca Cheung”). Mr. Wong Howard and his spouse were deemed to be interested in these
408,000,000 shares of the Company held by Allied Way under Part XV of the SFO.
*

18

The percentage represents the number of ordinary shares interested divided by the number of
the Company’s issued shares as at 31 March 2014.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF
THE COMPANY (continued)
(2)

Long position in underlying shares of the Company – physically settled unlisted
equity derivatives

Name of director

Capacity

Number of
underlying shares
in respect of the
share options
granted

Mr. Wong Howard
Mr. Wong Yat Fai

Beneficial owner
Beneficial owner

22,400,000
10,199,996

Percentage* of the
underlying shares
over the
Company’s issued
share capital
1.10%
0.50%

Details of the above share options granted by the Company are set out under the heading “Share
Option Scheme” above and note 29 to the financial statements.
*

The percentage represents the number of underlying shares interested divided by the number of
the Company’s issued shares as at 31 March 2014.

In addition to the above, as at 31 March 2014, certain directors of the Company held shares
in certain subsidiaries of the Company in a non-beneficial capacity, solely for the purpose of
complying with the previous requirement of a minimum of two shareholders.
Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2014, none of the directors or chief executive of the
Company had any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of
the Company or any associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which he/she was deemed
or taken to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which were required to be entered into the
register kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or which were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES
Save as disclosed under the headings “Directors’ interests in shares and underlying shares of
the Company” and “Share Option Scheme” above and in the share option scheme disclosures
in note 29 to the financial statements, at no time during the year were rights to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company granted to any of the
directors or their respective spouses or minor children, or were any such rights exercised
by them; or was the Company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement to enable the directors to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY
At 31 March 2014, the following parties had interests of 5% or more in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant
to Section 336 of the SFO, or as the Company is aware:
(1)

Long position in ordinary shares of the Company

Name of substantial
shareholder
Allied Way
Ms. Rebacca Cheung

Capacity

Note

Number of Percentage* of the
ordinary shares Company’s issued
interested
share capital

Beneficial owner

(1)

408,000,000

20.06%

Interest held by
a controlled corporation
Interest of spouse

(1)
(2)

408,000,000
12,779,400

20.06%
0.63%

420,779,400

20.69%

Notes:
(1)

These shares were held by Allied Way. Allied Way is a company incorporated in Hong Kong, the
entire issued capital of which is owned as to 50% by Mr. Wong Howard and 50% by his spouse,
Ms. Rebacca Cheung. Mr. Wong Howard and his spouse were deemed to be interested in
these 408,000,000 shares of the Company held by Allied Way under Part XV of the SFO.
The interest of Allied Way is also disclosed as the interest of Mr. Wong Howard in the above
section headed “Directors’ interests in shares and underlying shares of the Company”.
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(2)

Ms. Rebacca Cheung was deemed to be interested in 12,779,400 shares of the Company
through the interest of her spouse, Mr. Wong Howard, pursuant to Part XV of the SFO.

*

The percentage represents the number of ordinary shares interested divided by the number of
the Company’s issued shares as at 31 March 2014.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY (continued)
(2)

Long position in underlying shares of the Company – physically settled unlisted
equity derivatives

Name of substantial
shareholder

Capacity

Ms. Rebacca Cheung

Interest of spouse

Number of
underlying shares
in respect of
the share
options granted

Percentage*
of the underlying
shares over the
Company’s issued
share capital

22,400,000
(Note)

1.10%

Note: Ms. Rebacca Cheung was deemed to be interested in 22,400,000 share options of the
Company through the interest of her spouse, Mr. Wong Howard, pursuant to Part XV of
the SFO. Details of the above share options granted by the Company are set out under the
heading “Share Option Scheme” above and note 29 to the financial statements.
*

The percentage represents the number of underlying shares interested divided by the number of
the Company’s issued shares as at 31 March 2014.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2014, no person, other than the directors of the
Company, whose interests are set out in the section headed “Directors’ interests in shares and
underlying shares of the Company” above, had an interest or a short position in the shares
or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT
Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of
the directors as at the latest practicable date prior to the issue of this report, the Company has
maintained a sufficient public float.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING BUSINESS
During the year and up to the date of this report, no director is considered to have interests in a
business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses
of the Group, as defined in the Listing Rules.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Details of the corporate governance practices of the Company are set out in the section headed
“Corporate Governance Report” in this annual report.

AUDITORS
Ernst & Young will retire and a resolution for their re-appointment as auditors of the Company will
be proposed at the 2014 AGM.
On behalf of the Board

Wong Howard
Chairman
Hong Kong
19 June 2014
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
The Board recognizes the importance of good corporate governance to the Company’s healthy
growth and has devoted considerable efforts to identifying and formulating corporate governance
practices appropriate to the Company’s needs.
Throughout the year under review, the Company has complied with the code provisions set out
in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules, save
for the code provision A.2.1 which requires that the roles of chairman and chief executive should
be separate and should not be performed by the same individual. Key corporate governance
principles and practices of the Company as well as the details of the foregoing deviation are
summarized below.

THE BOARD
Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of the Board
Direction and control of Company business are vested in the Board. The Board establishes
policies, strategies and plans for the development of Company business, and provides leadership
in the creation of value for shareholders. All directors have carried out their duties in good faith,
in compliance with applicable laws and regulations, taking decisions objectively and acting in the
interests of the Company and its shareholders at all times.
The Board takes responsibility for all major matters of the Company, including the approval
and monitoring of all policy matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management systems, material transactions (particularly those that may involve conflict of
interests), financial information, appointment of directors and other significant financial and
operational matters.
All directors have timely access to all relevant information as well as the advice and services of
the Company Secretary and senior management of the Company, with a view to ensuring that
Board procedures and all applicable laws and regulations are followed. Any director may request
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the Company’s expenses, upon
reasonable request made to the Board.
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The day-to-day management, administration and operation of the Company are led by the
Executive Committee and senior management of the Company. The Board has delegated a
schedule of responsibilities to these officers for the implementation of Board decisions. The
Board reviews the delegated functions and work tasks regularly. Prior to entering any significant
transactions, the aforesaid officers have to obtain Board approval.
Board Composition
The following chart illustrates the current structure and membership of the Board and the Board
Committees as at 31 March 2014:

Board of Directors
Executive Directors
Mr. Wong Howard, Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
Mr. Wong Yat Fai
Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Tung Tat Chiu, Michael
Mr. Li Chi Ming
Mr. Kwok Chi Kwong

Executive Committee
Mr. Wong Howard, Chairman
Mr. Wong Yat Fai

Audit Committee
Mr. Tung Tat Chiu, Michael,
Chairman
Mr. Li Chi Ming
Mr. Kwok Chi Kwong

Remuneration Committee
Mr. Li Chi Ming, Chairman
Mr. Tung Tat Chiu, Michael
Mr. Kwok Chi Kwong

Nomination Committee
Mr. Wong Howard, Chairman
Mr. Wong Yat Fai
Mr. Tung Tat Chiu, Michael
Mr. Li Chi Ming
Mr. Kwok Chi Kwong

The biographical details of the directors and the relationships among the members of the Board
are disclosed in the section headed “Directors and Senior Management Profile” in this annual
report. None of the members of the Board is related to one another.
During the year ended 31 March 2014, the Board at all times met the requirements of the Listing
Rules of having three independent non-executive directors (representing at least one-third of the
Board) with one of them possessing appropriate professional qualifications and accounting and
related financial management expertise.
The composition of the Board reflects the necessary balance of skills and experience appropriate
for the business requirements and objectives of the Group and for the exercise of independent
judgement.
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The Company has received written annual confirmation from each independent non-executive
director of his independence pursuant to the requirements of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers all independent non-executive directors to be independent in accordance with the
independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.
Chairman and Chief Executive
Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of Chairman and Chief Executive
should be separate and should not be performed by the same individual.
Mr. Wong Howard is the Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company.
The Board believes that vesting the roles of both Chairman and Chief Executive Officer in the
same person provides the Company with strong and consistent leadership and allows for
effective and efficient planning and implementation of business decisions and strategies.
The Board also considers that the current structure of vesting the roles of Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer in the same person will not impair the balance of power and authority between
the Board and the management of the Company. The Board shall review this structure from time
to time to ensure appropriate and timely action to meet changing circumstances.
Appointment and Re-election of Directors
All directors of the Company are appointed for a specific term. Each of the executive directors
is engaged on a service contract for a term of 2 years. The Company has also issued a letter of
appointment to each of the independent non-executive directors of the Company for a term of 1
year.
According to the provisions of the Company’s bye-laws, Mr. Kwok Chi Kwong, who has been
appointed as an independent non-executive director of the Company with effect from 10 January
2014, will hold office until the 2014 AGM, whereas Mr. Wong Howard and Mr. Li Chi Ming shall
retire by rotation at the 2014 AGM.
All the above three retiring directors, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the
2014 AGM. The Board recommended the re-election of the above three retiring directors at
2014 AGM. The Company’s circular, sent together with this annual report, contains detailed
information of above three retiring directors as required by the Listing Rules.
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The Company has adopted “Directors Nomination Procedures” as written guidelines in providing
formal, considered and transparent procedures to the Board for evaluating and selecting
candidates for directorships. Where vacancies on the Board exist, the Board will carry out the
selection process by making reference to the skills, experience, professional knowledge, personal
integrity and time commitments of the proposed candidates, the Company’s needs and other
relevant statutory requirements and regulations.
Training and Continuing Development of Directors
Directors keep abreast of responsibilities as a director of the Company and of the conduct,
business activities and development of the Company.
All directors of the Company receive a comprehensive induction on his appointment to ensure
appropriate understanding of the business and operations of the Group and full awareness
of director’s responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory
requirements. Such induction is normally supplemented with visits to the Group’s key plant sites
and/or meetings with the senior management of the Company.
The existing directors are continually updated with legal and regulatory developments, business
and market changes to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. Continuing briefings and professional
development for directors are arranged whenever necessary. In addition, reading materials on
new or changes to salient laws and regulations applicable to the Group are provided to directors
from time to time for their studying and reference. All directors are encouraged to attend relevant
training courses at the Company’s expenses.
During the year ended 31 March 2014, the Company (i) has organized briefings conducted
by the Company Secretary for all its directors on corporate governance and updates on the
Listing Rules amendments and (ii) has provided reading materials on regulatory updates to all
the directors for their reference and studying. Besides, Mr. Wong Yat Fai, Mr. Tung Tat Chiu,
Michael and Mr. Li Chi Ming attended other seminars and training sessions arranged by other
professional firms/institutions.
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Model Code for Securities Transactions
The Company has adopted its own code of conduct regarding directors’ dealings in the
Company’s securities (the “Own Code”) on terms no less exacting than the Model Code. Specific
enquiry has been made of all the Company’s directors and they have confirmed that they have
complied with the required standards set out in the Model Code and the Own Code throughout
the period from 1 April 2013 to the date of this report.
The Company has also established written guidelines on no less exacting terms than the Model
Code (the “Employees Written Guidelines”) for securities transactions by employees who are likely
to be in possession of inside information of the Company. No incident of non-compliance of the
Employees Written Guidelines by the employees has been noted by the Company.
In case when the Company is aware of any restricted period for dealings in the Company’s
securities, the Company will notify its directors and relevant employees in advance.
Directors’ Attendance Records
The attendance records of each director at the Board and Board Committee meetings and the
general meetings of the Company held during the year ended 31 March 2014 is set out below:
Attendance/Number of Meetings

Name of Director
Mr. Wong Howard
Mr. Wong Yat Fai
Mr. Tung Tat Chiu,
Michael
Mr. Li Chi Ming
Mr. Wan Ngar Yin,
David (Note 1)
Mr. Kwok Chi Kwong
(Note 2)

Board

Audit Remuneration
Committee
Committee

Nomination
Committee

Annual
General
Meeting

Special
General
Meeting

6/6
6/6
6/6

–
–
2/2

–
–
1/1

1/1
1/1
1/1

1/1
1/1
1/1

1/1
1/1
0/1

6/6
3/3

2/2
2/2

1/1
1/1

1/1
1/1

1/1
1/1

1/1
1/1

2/2

–

–

–

–

–
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Notes:–
1.

Mr. Wan Ngar Yin, David resigned as a director of the Company on 10 January 2014. Before his
resignation, 3 Board meetings, 2 Audit Committee meetings, 1 Remuneration Committee meeting, 1
Nomination Committee meeting, 1 Annual General Meeting and 1 Special General Meeting were held
during the year ended 31 March 2014.

2.

Mr. Kwok Chi Kwong was appointed as a director of the Company on 10 January 2014. Subsequent
to his appointment, 2 Board meetings were held during the year ended 31 March 2014. No Audit
Committee meeting, Remuneration Committee meeting, Nomination Committee meeting and general
meeting were held subsequent to Mr. Kwok’s appointment.

In addition, the Chairman held a meeting with the independent non-executive directors without
the presence of executive directors during the year under review.

BOARD COMMITTEES AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS
The Board has established four Board committees, namely, the Executive Committee, the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee, for overseeing
particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board committees have been established
with defined written terms of reference, which are available on the Stock Exchange’s website
(www.hkexnews.hk) and on the Company’s website (except for the written terms of reference
of the Executive Committee which is available to shareholders upon request). All the Board
committees should report to the Board on their decisions or recommendations made.
Executive Committee
The Executive Committee comprises all the executive directors of the Company, namely, Mr.
Wong Howard and Mr. Wong Yat Fai. The Chairman of the Board, Mr. Wong Howard, also
acts as the Chairman of this Committee. The Executive Committee operates as a general
management committee under the direct authority of the Board to increase the efficiency for the
business decision. It monitors the execution of the Company’s strategic plans and operations
of all business units of the Group and discusses and makes decisions on matters relating to the
management and day-to-day operations of the Group.
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Audit Committee
The Audit Committee comprises of three members, namely, Mr. Tung Tat Chiu, Michael
(Chairman), Mr. Li Chi Ming and Mr. Kwok Chi Kwong, all of whom are independent nonexecutive directors. Mr. Kwok Chi Kwong possesses the appropriate accounting and financial
management expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules. None of the members
of the Audit Committee is a former partner of the Company’s existing external auditors.
The main duties of the Audit Committee are to (i) review the financial statements and reports and
consider any significant or unusual items raised by the financial officers of the Group or external
auditors before submission to the Board; (ii) review and monitor the relationship with the external
auditors by reference to the work performed by the auditors, their fees and terms of engagement,
and make recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal
of external auditors; and (iii) review the Company’s financial controls, internal control and risk
management systems.
During the year ended 31 March 2014, the Audit Committee performed the following works:
–

Review and discussion of the financial statements, results announcements and reports
for the year ended 31 March 2013 and for the six months ended 30 September 2013, the
financial reporting, the related accounting principles, practices and compliance procedures;

–

Discussion and recommendation of the re-appointment of external auditors; and

–

Review of internal control and risk management of the Group.

The external auditors were invited to attend the Audit Committee meetings without the presence
of executive directors to discuss with the Audit Committee issues arising from the audit and
financial reporting matters. The Company’s annual results for the year ended 31 March 2014
have also been reviewed by the Audit Committee. There is no disagreement between the Board
and the Audit Committee regarding the re-appointment of external auditors.
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Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee comprises of three members, namely, Mr. Li Chi Ming (Chairman),
Mr. Tung Tat Chiu, Michael and Mr. Kwok Chi Kwong. All of them are independent non-executive
directors of the Company.
The main duties of the Remuneration Committee are to (i) make recommendations to the Board
on the Company’s remuneration policy and structure and the remuneration packages of directors
and members of senior management (i.e. the model described in the code provision B.1.2(c)(ii) of
the CG Code is adopted), (ii) review and approve performance-based remuneration by reference
to corporate goals and objectives; and (ii) establish a formal and transparent procedures for
developing such remuneration policy and structure to ensure that no director or any of his/her
associates will participate in deciding his/her own remuneration, which remuneration will be
determined by reference to the performance of the individual and the Group as well as market
practice and conditions.
During the year ended 31 March 2014, the Remuneration Committee has (i) generally reviewed
and discussed the remuneration policy and structure and the current remuneration packages of
the directors and senior management of the Group; (ii) considered and discussed the grant of
share options of the Company, and (iii) recommended to the Board of the remuneration package
regarding the appointment of Mr. Kwok Chi Kwong as a director of the Company.
Pursuant to code provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, the annual remuneration of the members of
senior management by band for the year ended 31 March 2014 is set out below:
Number of
individuals
Nil to HK$1,000,000
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000

–
3
3

Details of the remuneration of each director of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2014
are set out in note 8 to the financial statements contained in this annual report.
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Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee comprises all the executive directors and independent non-executive
directors of the Company, namely, Mr. Wong Howard (Chairman), Mr. Wong Yat Fai, Mr. Tung
Tat Chiu, Michael, Mr. Li Chi Ming and Mr. Kwok Chi Kwong.
The main duties of the Nomination Committee are to (i) review the structure, size and
composition (including the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board on a regular basis
and recommend any changes to the Board; (ii) identify qualified and suitable individuals to
become Board members and select and make recommendations to the Board on the selection
of individuals nominated for directorships; (iii) assess the independence of independent nonexecutive directors of the Company, having regard to the requirements under the Listing Rules;
and (iv) make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to the appointment or
re-appointment of directors and succession planning for directors in particular, the Chairman and
the Chief Executive of the Company.
In selecting candidates for directorship of the Company, the Nomination Committee may make
reference to certain criteria such as the Company’s needs, the diversity on the Board, the
integrity, experience, skills, professional knowledge of the candidate and the amount of time
and effort that the candidate will devote to discharge his/her duties and responsibilities. External
recruitment professionals might be engaged to carry out selection process when necessary.
To comply with the provision of A.5.6 of the CG Code, a Board diversity policy was adopted by
the Company in September 2013, pursuant to which the Nomination Committee is responsible
for monitoring the implementation of the Board diversity policy and assessing the Board
composition under diversified perspectives (including but not limited to educational background
or professional experience). The Nomination Committee shall report its findings and make
recommendation to the Board, if any. Such policy and objectives will be reviewed from time to
time to ensure their appropriateness in determining the optimum composition of the Board.
During the year ended 31 March 2014, the Nomination Committee performed the following
works:
–

Recommend to the Board relating to the appointment of Mr. Kwok Chi Kwong as a director
of the Company;
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–

Review the structure, size and composition of the Board to ensure that it has a balance
of expertise, skills and experience appropriate to the requirements for the business of the
Group;

–

Make recommendations of the re-election of the retiring directors standing for re-election at
the 2013 annual general meeting of the Company; and

–

Assess the independence of independent non-executive directors of the Company.

Corporate Governance Functions
The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the code provision D.3.1 of the
CG Code.
During the year ended 31 March 2014, the Board has reviewed the Company’s corporate
governance policies and practices, training and continuous professional development of directors
and senior management, the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements, the compliance of the Model Code and Employees Written Guidelines,
and the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in this Corporate Governance
Report.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING IN
RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors have acknowledged their responsibilities for preparing the financial statements of
the Company for the year ended 31 March 2014.
The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and understandable assessment of
annual and interim reports, price-sensitive announcements and other disclosures required under
the Listing Rules and other statutory and regulatory requirements. The management has provided
to the Board such explanation and information as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out
an informed assessment of the Company’s financial statements, which are put to the Board for
approval.
There are no material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
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INTERNAL CONTROLS
The Board is responsible for maintaining an adequate internal control system to safeguard
shareholders’ investments and the Group’s assets and for reviewing the effectiveness of such
system on an annual basis. The senior management reviews and evaluates the control process,
monitors any risk factors on a regular basis and reports to the Audit Committee on any findings
and measures to address the variances and identified risks.
During the year under review, the Board, through the Audit Committee, has conducted a review
of the effectiveness of the internal control system of the Company.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS AND AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION
The statement of the external auditors of the Company about their reporting responsibilities for
the Company’s financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2014 is set out in the section
headed “Independent Auditors’ Report” in this annual report. During the year ended 31 March
2014, the remuneration paid/payable to the Company’s external auditors, Ernst & Young, is set
out below:
Remuneration
(HK$)

Nature of Services
Audit services
Non-audit services

1,390,000
446,000

TOTAL:

1,836,000

The non-audit services provided mainly included tax compliance and advisory services.

COMPANY SECRETARY
During the year ended 31 March 2014, Mr. Szeto Pui Tong, Patrick, the Company Secretary, has
taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional trainings to update his skills and knowledge.
Biographical details of Mr. Szeto are set out in the section headed “Directors and Senior
Management Profile” in this annual report.
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS
The Company believes that effective communication with shareholders is essential for enhancing
investor relations and investors’ understanding of the Group’s business performance and
strategies. The Company also recognizes the importance of transparency and timely disclosure
of corporate information, which will enable shareholders and investors to make the best
investment decisions.
The Company maintains a website at “www.icubetech.com.hk” as a communication platform
with shareholders and investors, where information and updates on the Group’s business
operations, developments and financial information are available for public access. Shareholders
and investors may send written enquiries or requests to the Company. Contact details are as
follows:
Address:
Fax:
Email:

Room 1603-05, Harcourt House, 39 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
(For the attention of the Department of Investor Relations)
(852) 2865 4654
info@icubetech.com.hk

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity for communication between
the Board and the shareholders. The Chairman of the Board as well as chairmen of the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee and, in their absence, other
members of the respective committees and, where applicable, will normally attend the annual
general meeting and other relevant shareholders’ meetings to answer questions raised.
The Company continues to enhance communications and relationships with its investors.
Designated senior management maintains regular dialogue with institutional investors and
analysts to keep them posted of the Company’s developments.

SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS
To safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution is proposed for each
substantially separate issue at shareholder meetings, including the election of individual directors.
The Company’s shareholders may convene a special general meeting or put forward proposals
at shareholders’ meetings as follows:
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(1)

Shareholder(s) holding not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company at
the date of deposit of the requisition may request the Board to convene a special general
meeting pursuant to Clause 71 of the Company’s bye-laws by sending a written requisition
to the Board or the Company Secretary at the Company’s head office in Hong Kong. The
objects of the meeting must be stated in the written requisition.

(2)

Shareholder(s) representing not less than one-twentieth of the total voting rights at the
date of the requisition or not less than 100 shareholders may put forward a proposal at
a shareholders’ meeting, pursuant to the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda by sending a
written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary at the Company’s head office
in Hong Kong. The proposal should be stated in the written requisition and such written
requisition should be submitted as early as practicable to enable the Company to make
necessary arrangement (in case of a requisition requiring notice of a resolution, not less than
six weeks before the meeting; and in case of any other requisition, not less than one week
before the meeting).

(3)

If a shareholder wishes to propose a person other than a retiring director for election as a
director of the Company at a general meeting, the shareholder (other than the person to
be proposed) duly qualified to attend and vote at the general meeting shall send a written
notice, duly signed by the shareholder, of his/her intention to propose such person for
election and also a notice signed by the person to be proposed of his/her willingness to be
elected. These notices should be lodged at the Company’s head office in Hong Kong, or the
office of the Company’s branch share registrar. The period for lodgement of such notices
shall commence on the day after the dispatch of the notice of such general meeting and end
7 days prior to the date of such general meeting.

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholders must deposit and send the original duly signed
written requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address
and provide their full name, contact details and identification in order to give effect thereto.
Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required by law.
During the year under review, the Company has not made any changes to its bye-laws. An up-todate version of the Company’s bye-laws is also available on the websites of the Stock Exchange
(www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company (www.icubetech.com.hk).
All resolutions put forward at shareholder meetings will be voted by poll pursuant to the Listing
Rules and poll results will be posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange
after each shareholder’s meeting.
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To the shareholders of ICube Technology Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of ICube Technology Holdings Limited
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) set out on pages 38 to 132, which
comprise the consolidated and company statements of financial position as at 31 March 2014,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based
on our audit. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the
Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we comply
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on
the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial
statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs
of the Company and of the Group as at 31 March 2014, and of the Group’s results and cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and
have been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
22/F CITIC Tower
1 Tim Mei Avenue
Central, Hong Kong
19 June 2014
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Notes
REVENUE
Electronic products
Treasury investments
5
Cost of electronic products sold
Brokerage and commission expenses

5

2013
HK$’000

9,456
26,663

15,906
(876)

36,119

15,030

(9,434)
(194)

(16,044)
(151)

(9,628)

(16,195)

26,491

(1,165)

4,480
(277)
(41,521)
(20,419)
(1,337)

1,795
(366)
(38,188)
(13,541)
(1,910)

–

1,631
(16,186)
22,276
49,693
(21,762)

Other income and gains
Selling and distribution expenses
Administrative expenses
Research costs
Other operating expenses
Gain on disposal of an available-for-sale
equity investment
Fair value gains/(losses), net:
Equity investments at fair value through profit or loss
Derivative component of convertible bonds
Gain arising from modification of convertible bonds
Finance costs

24
24
6

31,364
10,271
–
(16,958)

LOSS BEFORE TAX
Income tax expense

7
10

(7,906)
–

(17,723)
(79)

(7,906)

(17,802)

LOSS FOR THE YEAR

38

2014
HK$’000
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
Year ended 31 March 2014

Notes
Attributable to:
Owners of the parent
Non-controlling interests

11

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

2014
HK$’000

2013
HK$’000

5,404
(13,310)

(6,199)
(11,603)

(7,906)

(17,802)

12

(Restated)

Basic

HK0.36 cent

HK(0.71) cent

Diluted

HK0.17 cent

HK(0.71) cent
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
Year ended 31 March 2014

2014
HK$’000

2013
HK$’000

(7,906)

(17,802)

1,862

3,249

–
(308)

(1,631)
(267)

1,554

1,351

(118)

149

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX

1,436

1,500

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE YEAR

(6,470)

(16,302)

6,891
(13,361)

(4,783)
(11,519)

(6,470)

(16,302)

LOSS FOR THE YEAR
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS)
Other comprehensive income to be reclassified
to profit or loss in subsequent periods:
Available-for-sale equity investments:
Changes in fair value
Release upon disposal of an available-for sale
equity investment
Income tax effect

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations

Attributable to:
Owners of the parent
Non-controlling interests
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2014
HK$’000

2013
HK$’000

1,722
–
14,461

1,604
–
12,599

16,183

14,203

176,617
–
1,108
3,232
14,804
546
83,223

92,045
478
737
1,823
4,533
1,953
30,747

279,530

132,316

16
12
12,645
142

72
12
13,205
85

12,815

13,374

NET CURRENT ASSETS

266,715

118,942

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES

282,898

133,145

Notes
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment
Prepaid land lease payment
Available-for-sale equity investments

13
14
16

Total non-current assets
CURRENT ASSETS
Equity investments at fair value through profit or loss
Inventories
Trade receivables
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables
Derivative component of convertible bonds
Restricted bank balances
Cash and bank balances

17
18
19
20
24
21
21

Total current assets
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade payables
Tax payable
Other payables and accruals
Finance lease payables

22

23

Total current liabilities
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2014
HK$’000

2013
HK$’000

512
73,386
79,421
890

–
65,379
70,515
582

Total non-current liabilities

154,209

136,476

Net assets/(liabilities)

128,689

(3,331)

20,337
147,459

6,779
16,641

167,796

23,420

Non-controlling interests

(39,107)

(26,751)

Total equity/(deficiency in assets)

128,689

(3,331)

Notes
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Finance lease payables
Convertible bonds
Bonds
Deferred tax liabilities

EQUITY/(DEFICIENCY IN ASSETS)
Equity attributable to owners of the parent
Issued capital
Reserves

Wong Howard
Director
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23
24
24
25

26
27(a)

Wong Yat Fai
Director
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Year ended 31 March 2014

Attributable to owners of the parent

Notes
At 1 April 2012

Issued
capital
HK$’000

Share
premium Contributed
account
surplus
HK$’000 HK$’000

Capital
reserve
HK$’000

Share
option
reserve
HK$’000

AvailableEquity
for-sale
component
equity
of investment Exchange
convertible revaluation fluctuation Accumulated
bonds
reserve
reserve
losses
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Noncontrolling
Total interests
HK$’000 HK$’000

Total
equity
HK$’000

33,896

745,229

551,174

556

30,911

47,257

1,597

(590)

(1,386,694)

23,336

(17,090)

6,246

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

(6,199)

(6,199)

(11,603)

(17,802)

–

–

–

–

–

–

2,713

–

–

2,713

–

2,713

–

–

–

–

–

–

(1,362)

–

–

(1,362)

–

(1,362)

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

65

–

65

84

149

–
(27,117)
–

–
–
–

–
27,117
–

–
–
–

–
–
4,867

–
–
–

1,351
–
–

65
–
–

(6,199)
–
–

(4,783)
–
4,867

(11,519)
–
–

(16,302)
–
4,867

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

1,858

1,858

At 31 March 2013

6,779

745,229*

578,291*

556*

35,778*

47,257*

2,948*

(525)* (1,392,893)*

23,420

(26,751)

(3,331)

At 1 April 2013

6,779

745,229

578,291

556

35,778

47,257

2,948

(525) (1,392,893)

23,420

(26,751)

(3,331)

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

5,404

5,404

(13,310)

(7,906)

–

–

–

–

–

–

1,554

–

–

1,554

–

1,554

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

(67)

–

(67)

(51)

(118)

–
13,558
–
–

–
122,024
(5,030)
–

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
6,933

–
–
–
–

1,554
–
–
–

(67)
–
–
–

5,404
–
–
–

6,891
135,582
(5,030)
6,933

(13,361)
–
–
–

(6,470)
135,582
(5,030)
6,933

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

1,005

1,005

20,337

862,223*

578,291*

556*

42,711*

47,257*

4,502*

(592)* (1,387,489)*

167,796

(39,107)

128,689

Loss for the year
Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year:
Changes in fair value of available-for-sale
equity investments, net of tax
Release upon disposal of available-for-sale
equity investments, net of tax
Exchange differences on translation of
foreign operations
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year
Share consolidation
Equity-settled share option arrangements, net
Capital contribution from non-controlling
interests of a subsidiary

26
29

Loss for the year
Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year:
Changes in fair value of available-for-sale
equity investments, net of tax
Exchange differences on translation of
foreign operations
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year
Rights issue
Share issue expenses
Equity-settled share option arrangements, net
Capital contribution from non-controlling
interests of a subsidiary
At 31 March 2014
*

26
26
29

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$147,459,000 (2013:
HK$16,641,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended 31 March 2014

2014
HK$’000

2013
HK$’000

(7,906)

(17,723)

5
6
7
7
7
7
7
5

(18)
16,958
665
1,005
–
(107)
–
–

(11)
21,762
634
1,858
2
556
(1,631)
5,383

24
24
29

(31,364)
(10,271)
–
6,933

16,186
(22,276)
(49,693)
4,867

(24,105)
–

(40,086)
10,000

(53,208)
585
(371)
(2,414)
1,409
(56)
(570)
(113)

(1,357)
149
2,613
(197)
(1,953)
(298)
4,267
189

Cash used in operations
Interest paid
Interest element of finance lease rental payments
Overseas taxes paid

(78,843)
(17)
(28)
–

(26,673)
–
(10)
(79)

Net cash flows used in operating activities

(78,888)

(26,762)

Notes
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax
Adjustments for:
Bank interest income
Finance costs
Depreciation
Impairment of other receivables
Write-off of items of property, plant and equipment
Write-down/(reversal) of inventories to net realisable value
Gain on disposal of an available-for-sale equity investment
Losses on disposal of note receivables
Fair value losses/(gains), net:
Equity investments at fair value through profit or loss
Derivative component of convertible bonds
Gain arising from modification of convertible bonds
Equity-settled share option arrangements

Decrease in note receivables
Increase in equity investments at fair
value through profit or loss
Decrease in inventories
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables
Increase in prepayments, deposits and other receivables
Decrease/(increase) in restricted bank balances
Decrease in trade payables
Increase/(decrease) in other payables and accruals
Exchange realignment
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2014
HK$’000

2013
HK$’000

(27)

(178)

–

3

–
18

5,954
11

(9)

5,790

130,552
(186)
1,005

–
(140)
1,858

131,371

1,718

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances at beginning of year
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net

52,474
30,747
2

(19,254)
49,989
12

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR

83,223

30,747

83,223

30,747

Notes
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of items of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of items of property,
plant and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of available-for-sale
equity investments
Interest received
Net cash flows from/(used in) investing activities
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from rights issue, net
Capital element of finance lease rental payments
Capital contribution from the non-controlling interests

26(ii)

Net cash flows from financing activities

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances

21
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Statement of Financial Position
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2014
HK$’000

2013
HK$’000

–
–

–
1,387

–

1,387

151,226
57
14,804
72,836

131,738
57
4,533
2,184

238,923

138,512

1,355
7,498

1,892
7,498

8,853

9,390

NET CURRENT ASSETS

230,070

129,122

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES

230,070

130,509

73,386
79,421

65,379
70,515

152,807

135,894

77,263

(5,385)

20,337
56,926

6,779
(12,164)

77,263

(5,385)

Notes
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment
Investments in subsidiaries

13
15

Total non-current assets
CURRENT ASSETS
Due from subsidiaries
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables
Derivative component of convertible bonds
Cash and bank balances

15
24
21

Total current assets
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accruals
Due to subsidiaries

15

Total current liabilities

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Convertible bonds
Bonds

24
24

Total non-current liabilities
Net assets/(liabilities)
EQUITY/(DEFICIENCY IN ASSETS)
Issued capital
Reserves

26
27(b)

Total equity/(deficiency in assets)

Wong Howard
Director
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Wong Yat Fai
Director
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Notes to Financial Statements
31 March 2014

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION
ICube Technology Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a limited liability company
incorporated in Bermuda. The principal place of business of the Company is located at
Rooms 1603-5, 16/F., Harcourt House, 39 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.
The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of the
subsidiaries during the year consisted of the trading and distribution of electronic products
and other merchandise, securities investment and trading, and research and development
of integrated circuit technology.

2.1. BASIS OF PREPARATION
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical cost convention,
except for equity investments and derivative financial instruments which have been
measured at fair value. These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
(“HK$”) and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise
indicated.
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2.1. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March
2014. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting
period as the Company, using consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue to be
consolidated until the date that such control ceases.
Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the
owners of the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results
in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities,
equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances
indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control described
in the accounting policy for subsidiaries below. A change in the ownership interest of a
subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.
If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill)
and liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and
(iii) the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair
value of the consideration received, (ii) the fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any
resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits,
as appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the Group had directly disposed
of the related assets or liabilities.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES
The Group has adopted the following new and revised HKFRSs for the first time for the
current year’s financial statements.
HKFRS 1 Amendments

HKFRS 7 Amendments

HKFRS 10
HKFRS 11
HKFRS 12
HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11 and
HKFRS 12 Amendments
HKFRS 13
HKAS 1 Amendments

HKAS 19 (2011)
HKAS 27 (2011)
HKAS 28 (2011)
HK(IFRIC)-Int 20
Annual Improvements
2009-2011 Cycle

Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time Adoption of
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards –
Government Loans
Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments:
Disclosures – Offsetting Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities
Consolidated Financial Statements
Joint Arrangements
Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
Amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11 and HKFRS 12 –
Transition Guidance
Fair Value Measurement
Amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements – Presentation of Items of
Other Comprehensive Income
Employee Benefits
Separate Financial Statements
Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures
Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine
Amendments to a number of HKFRSs issued in June 2012

Other than as further explained below regarding the impact of HKFRS 10, HKFRS
12, HKFRS 13, amendments to HKAS 1 and certain amendments included in Annual
Improvements 2009-2011 Cycle, the adoption of the new and revised HKFRSs has had no
significant financial effect on these financial statements.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES (continued)
The principal effects of adopting these new and revised HKFRSs are as follows:
(a)

HKFRS 10 replaces the portion of HKAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements that addresses the accounting for consolidated financial statements and
addresses the issues in HK(SIC)-Int 12 Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities. It
establishes a single control model used for determining which entities are consolidated.
To meet the definition of control in HKFRS 10, an investor must have (a) power over
an investee, (b) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee, and (c) the ability to use its power over the investee to affect the amount of
the investor’s returns. The changes introduced by HKFRS 10 require management of
the Group to exercise significant judgement to determine which entities are controlled.
As a result of the application of HKFRS 10, the Group has changed the accounting
policy with respect to determining which investees are controlled by the Group.
The application of HKFRS 10 does not change any of the consolidation conclusions of
the Group in respect of its involvement with investees as at 1 April 2013.

50

(b)

HKFRS 12 sets out the disclosure requirements for subsidiaries, joint arrangements,
associates and structured entities previously included in HKAS 27 Consolidated and
Separate Financial Statements, HKAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures and HKAS 28
Investments in Associates. It also introduces a number of new disclosure requirements
for these entities. Details of the disclosures for subsidiaries are included in note 15 to
the financial statements.

(c)

HKFRS 13 provides a precise definition of fair value and a single source of fair value
measurement and disclosure requirements for use across HKFRSs. The standard
does not change the circumstances in which the Group is required to use fair
value, but rather provides guidance on how fair value should be applied where its
use is already required or permitted under other HKFRSs. HKFRS 13 is applied
prospectively and the adoption has had no material impact on the Group’s fair value
measurements. As a result of the guidance in HKFRS 13, the policies for measuring
fair value have been amended. Additional disclosures required by HKFRS 13 for the
fair value measurements of financial instruments are included in note 34 to the financial
statements.
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21. RESTRICTED BANK BALANCES AND CASH AND BANK BALANCES
(continued)
At the end of the reporting period, cash and bank balances of the Group denominated in
Renminbi (“RMB”) amounted to approximately HK$3,302,000 (2013: HK$3,803,000). The
RMB are not freely convertible into other currencies, however, under Mainland China’s
Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment
of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other
currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.
At 31 March 2014 and 31 March 2013, restricted bank balances represented government
grants received by the Group for which the use of the bank balances is restricted to specific
purposes and is subject to approval of the relevant authority in the PRC.
Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. The bank
balances are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default. The
carrying amounts of the restricted bank balances and cash and bank balances approximate
their fair values.

22. TRADE PAYABLES
An aged analysis of the Group’s trade payables as at the end of the reporting period, based
on the invoice date, is as follows:
Group
2014
2013
HK$’000
HK$’000
Within 1 to 2 months
Over 3 months

–
16

48
24

16

72

Trade payables are non-interest-bearing and have a credit period of an average of two
months. The carrying amounts of trade payables approximate their fair values.
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23. FINANCE LEASE PAYABLES
The Group leases certain of its property, plant and equipment for its operations. These
leases are classified as finance leases and have remaining lease terms of five years (2013:
one year). At 31 March 2014, the total future minimum lease payments under finance leases
and their present values were as follows:
Group

102

Minimum lease
payments
2014
HK$’000

Minimum lease
payments
2013
HK$’000

Present value
of minimum
lease
payments
2014
HK$’000

Present value
of minimum
lease
payments
2013
HK$’000

Amounts payable:
Within one year
In the second year
In the third to fifth years,
inclusive

170
170

87
–

142
149

85
–

382

–

363

–

Total minimum finance
lease payments

722

87

654

85

Future finance charges

(68)

(2)

Total net finance lease
payables

654

85

Portion classified as current
liabilities

(142)

(85)

Non-current portion

512

–
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24. CONVERTIBLE BONDS, BONDS AND DERIVATIVES
Group and Company
2014
2013
HK$’000
HK$’000
2013 Convertible Bonds (as defined below)
2013 Bonds (as defined below)

Derivative component of convertible bonds

73,386
79,421

65,379
70,515

152,807

135,894

(14,804)

(4,533)

On 1 December 2010, the Company issued three-year zero-coupon convertible bonds
with the face value of HK$200,000,000 to unrelated third parties (the “2010 Convertible
Bonds”). The 2010 Convertible Bonds were convertible at the option of the bondholders (the
“Bondholders”) into ordinary shares of the Company at anytime following the date of issue
of the 2010 Convertible Bonds up to the maturity date on 30 November 2013, at a price of
HK$0.125 per share, subject to adjustments.
The Company could redeem, in whole or in part, the outstanding 2010 Convertible Bonds
at a 100% of the principal amount by giving the Bondholders not less than seven business
days’ prior notice during the outstanding period. If redeemed in part, the redemption shall
be made in amounts of not less than multiples of HK$500,000. On the maturity date, any
2010 Convertible Bonds not converted or redeemed during the tenure will be redeemed by
the Company at 100% of the principal amount. The conversion option of the Bondholders
is a derivative component. There was no conversion or redemption of the 2010 Convertible
Bonds during the year ended 31 March 2013.
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24. CONVERTIBLE BONDS, BONDS AND DERIVATIVES (continued)
2013 Amendments
Upon the approval of an ordinary resolution of the Company at the special general meeting
held on 25 March 2013, the Company and the Bondholders concluded the Deed of
Variations on 26 March 2013 (the “Amendment Date”) pursuant to which both parties
agreed to vary certain terms and conditions of the 2010 Convertible Bonds (the “2013
Amendments”). The modifications included but were not limited to:
(i)

the maturity date of 30 November 2013 was extended to 30 November 2016;

(ii)

the principal amount of the 2010 Convertible Bonds was divided into two portions:
•

an interest-bearing portion with a principal value of HK$100 million which is
interest-bearing at 2.5% p.a. payable on maturity (the “2013 Bonds”); and

•

a non-interest-bearing portion with a principal amount of HK$100 million
redeemable on maturity with conversion rights attached (the “2013 Convertible
Bonds”). The convertible portion was convertible in multiples of HK$250,000 at
any time during the conversion period;

(iii)

the conversion price for the 2013 Convertible Bonds was adjusted from HK$0.125 per
share to HK$0.33 per share, subject to adjustments; and

(iv)

a conversion option was granted to the Company to which the Company has the rights
to request conversion of all the outstanding 2013 Convertible Bonds into ordinary
shares of the Company on the maturity date.

Further details of the 2013 Amendments are set out in the Company’s circular dated 1
March 2013.
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24. CONVERTIBLE BONDS, BONDS AND DERIVATIVES (continued)
2013 Amendments (continued)
The 2013 Amendments constituted a significant modification and were accounted for as
an extinguishment of the 2010 Convertible Bonds and an issue of the 2013 Bonds and
2013 Convertible Bonds. In light of the terms of the 2013 Amendments set out above, the
Company reassessed at the Amendment Date the fair values of the 2013 Bonds and the
2013 Convertible Bonds. The net effect of the 2013 Amendments is the recognition of a
gain of HK$49,693,000 credited to the statement of profit or loss. The conversion option of
the Bondholders and conversion option of the Company on the maturity date are derivative
components which are interdependent as only one of these options can be exercised at any
one point of time. Therefore, they are not able to be accounted for separately and a single
compound derivative financial instrument is recognised.
The conversion price of the 2013 Convertible Bonds was adjusted from HK$0.33 per
share to HK$0.2846 per share upon completion of the rights issue on 19 September 2013.
Further details are set out in the Company’s announcement dated 18 September 2013.
The derivative assets of the 2013 Convertible Bonds of HK$14,804,000 as at 31 March
2014 (2013: HK$4,533,000) represented the fair values of the conversion options of the
Company and the Bondholders at the end of the reporting period.
The fair value of the liability component of the 2013 Convertible Bonds as at 31 March 2014
was HK$67,510,000 (2013: HK$65,139,000). The fair value of the liability component of the
2013 Bonds as at 31 March 2014 was HK$72,618,000 (2013: HK$70,270,000). The fair
values of the 2013 Convertible Bonds and the 2013 Bonds were estimated by valuations
performed by Ascent Partners Valuation Services Limited.
There was no conversion or redemption of the 2013 Convertible Bonds during the year
ended 31 March 2014 (2013: Nil).
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24. CONVERTIBLE BONDS, BONDS AND DERIVATIVES (continued)
An analysis of the movements of the liability component and the derivative component
of convertible bonds and bonds during the years ended 31 March 2014 and 2013 is as
follows:
Convertible
Bonds –
Liability
component
HK$’000

Convertible
Bonds –
Derivative
component
HK$”000

Bonds –
Liability
component
HK$’000

Total
HK$’000

At 1 April 2012
Interest expenses
Extinguishment of the
2010 Convertible Bonds
Issue of the 2013 Convertible Bonds
Issue of the 2013 Bonds
Fair value change

161,848
21,637

19,730
–

–
115

181,578
21,752

(183,382)
65,276
–
–

(45)
(1,942)
–
(22,276)

–
–
70,400
–

(183,427)
63,334
70,400
(22,276)

At 31 March 2013 and 1 April 2013
Interest expenses
Fair value change

65,379
8,007
–

(4,533)
–
(10,271)

70,515
8,906
–

131,361
16,913
(10,271)

As 31 March 2014

73,386

(14,804)

79,421

138,003

25. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES
Deferred tax liabilities as at 31 March 2014 of HK$890,000 (2013: HK$582,000) were
attributable to the fair value gains on available-for-sale equity investments.
The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong of HK$868,850,000 (2013:
HK$902,814,000) and in Mainland China of HK$14,623,000 (2013: HK$12,174,000) that
are available for offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies in which the losses
arose. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these losses as they have
arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-making for some time and it is not considered
probable that taxable profits will be available against which the tax losses can be utilised.
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26. SHARE CAPITAL
Shares
2014
HK$’000

2013
HK$’000

600,000

600,000

20,337

6,779

Authorised:
60,000,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each
Issued and fully paid:
2,033,737,827 (2013: 677,912,609)
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each
Movements of the Company’s issued share capital were as follows:

Number of
shares in issue

Issued
share
capital
HK$’000

Share
premium
account
HK$’000

Total
HK$’000

33,896
(27,117)

745,229
–

779,125
(27,117)

Notes
At 1 April 2012
Capital reorganisation

(i)

3,389,563,047
(2,711,650,438)

At 31 March 2013 and
1 April 2013
Rights issue
Share issue expenses

(ii)
(ii)

677,912,609
1,355,825,218
–

6,779
13,558
–

745,229
122,024
(5,030)

752,008
135,582
(5,030)

2,033,737,827

20,337

862,223

882,560

At 31 March 2014
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26. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)
Notes:
(i)

Pursuant to a special resolution passed on 25 March 2013, a capital reorganisation scheme
became effective on 26 March 2013 which involved the following:
(a)

every 5 shares in the issued ordinary share capital of the Company were consolidated into
1 consolidated share;

(b)

the nominal value of every issued consolidated share was reduced by cancelling HK$0.04
of the capital paid up for each issued consolidated share so as to form (after the share
consolidation) one reorganised share of HK$0.01 each; and

(c)

the credit arising from the capital reorganisation was transferred to the contributed surplus
of the Company.

The authorised share capital of the Company before and after the capital reorganisation remains
unchanged at HK$600,000,000.
(ii)

On 19 September 2013, the Company issued and allotted 1,355,825,218 ordinary shares
of HK$0.01 each to the qualifying shareholders pursuant to the rights issue on the basis of
two rights shares for every share held by members on the register as at 27 August 2013 at a
subscription price of HK$0.10 per share for a total gross cash consideration of HK$135,582,000
and the related issue expense was HK$5,030,000.

Share options
Details of the Company’s share option schemes and the share options issued under the
schemes are included in note 29 to the financial statements.
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27. RESERVES
(a) Group
The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein for the current and
prior years are presented in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
The contributed surplus of the Group arose as a result of the Group reorganisation
upon listing of the Company’s shares in 1994, and represented the difference between
the nominal value of the shares of the former holding company of the Group prior to
the Group reorganisation and the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued in
exchange therefor.
In addition, pursuant to special and ordinary resolutions passed at the special general
meeting held on 22 September 2000, the issued and fully paid share capital of the
Company was reduced by HK$448,992,000 through a reduction in the nominal value
of the share capital of the Company. The credit so arising was transferred to the
contributed surplus.
On 28 July 2005, a capital reorganisation scheme was approved by the shareholders
under a special resolution, pursuant to which, every 10 shares of HK$0.01 each in the
issued share capital of the Company were consolidated into one consolidated share
of HK$0.10 and every issued consolidated share was reduced in nominal amount by
cancelling HK$0.09 of the capital paid up for each issued consolidated share so as to
form (after the share consolidation) one reorganised share of HK$0.01. The credit so
arising was transferred to the contributed surplus.
As detailed in note 26 (i), during the year ended 31 March 2013, a credit of
HK$27,117,000 arising from the capital reorganisation was transferred to the
contributed surplus.

ICUBE TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED 2013-2014 ANNUAL REPORT

109

Notes to the Financial Statements
31 March 2014

27. RESERVES (continued)
(b) Company

Share
premium Contributed
account
surplus
HK$’000
HK$’000
At 1 April 2012
Loss and total comprehensive
loss for the year
Share consolidation (note 26 (i))
Equity-settled share option
arrangements (note 29)
At 31 March 2013 and
1 April 2013
Loss and total comprehensive
loss for the year
Rights issue (note 26 (ii))
Share issue expenses (note 26(ii))
Equity-settled share option
arrangements (note 29)
At 31 March 2014

Capital
reserve
HK$’000

Share
option
reserve
HK$’000

Equity
component
of
convertible Accumulated
bonds
losses
HK$’000
HK$’000

Total
HK$’000

745,229

594,673

556

30,911

47,257

(1,447,708)

(29,082)

–
–

–
27,117

–
–

–
–

–
–

(15,066)
–

(15,066)
27,117

–

–

–

4,867

–

–

4,867

745,229

621,790

556

35,778

47,257

(1,462,774)

(12,164)

–
122,024
(5,030)

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

(54,837)
–
–

(54,837)
122,024
(5,030)

–

–

–

6,933

–

–

6,933

862,223

621,790

556

42,711

47,257

(1,517,611)

56,926

The loss of HK$54,837,000 for the year ended 31 March 2014 (2013: HK$15,066,000)
included impairment of amounts due from subsidiaries of the Company of
HK$32,006,000 (2013: HK$50,360,000) and impairment of investments in subsidiaries
of the Company of HK$6,253,000 (2013: HK$6,643,000).
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27. RESERVES (continued)
(b) Company (continued)
Note:
The contributed surplus of the Company arose as a result of the Group reorganisation referred
to in (a) above and represents the excess of the then combined net assets of the subsidiaries
acquired over the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued in exchange therefor.
In addition, the capital reorganisation described in (a) above also resulted in an aggregate credit
balance of approximately HK$578,101,000 (2013: HK$578,101,000) being transferred to the
Company’s contributed surplus.

28. NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Major non-cash transaction
During the year ended 31 March 2014, the Group entered into a finance lease arrangement
in respect of property, plant and equipment with a total capital value at the inception of the
lease of HK$755,000 (2013: Nil).

29. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
The Company operates share option schemes for the purpose of providing incentives and
rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations.
Eligible participants of the share option schemes include the Company’s directors, including
independent non-executive directors, other employees of the Group or any invested
entity, suppliers of goods or services to the Group or any invested entity, customers of the
Group or any invested entity, shareholders of the Group or any invested entity, holders of
securities of the Group or any invested entity and persons or entities that provide research,
development or other technological support to the Group or any invested entity. A share
option scheme became effective on 27 August 2003 and expired on 27 August 2013 (the
“2003 Scheme”). A new share option scheme was adopted and became effective on 27
September 2013 (the “2013 Scheme”). Unless otherwise cancelled or amended, the 2013
Scheme will remain in force for 10 years from the effective date.
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29. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)
The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options granted
and to be granted under the 2003 Scheme and the 2013 Scheme (collectively, the “Share
Option Schemes”) is an amount equivalent to 10% of the shares of the Company in issue
as at the dates of approval of the Share Option Schemes unless approval for refreshing the
10% limit from the Company’s shareholders has been obtained. The maximum number of
shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the share options granted to each eligible
participant in the Share Option Schemes (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding
options) within any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in issue.
Any further grant of share options in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval
in a general meeting. The total number of shares of the Company available for issue under
the 2013 Share Option Scheme is 162,173,782 as at the date of the annual report.
Under the Share Option Schemes, share options granted to a director, chief executive
or substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates are subject to
approval in advance by the independent non-executive directors. In addition, any grant of
share options to a substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the
Company, or to any of their associates, which would result in the shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of all options already granted and to be granted (including options
exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to such person in the 12-month period up to and
including the date of such grant in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue
and with an aggregate value (based on the closing price of the Company’s shares at the
date of grant) in excess of HK$5,000,000 is subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in
a general meeting.
The offer of a grant of share options under the Share Option Schemes may be accepted
within 28 days from the date of offer, upon payment of a nominal consideration of HK$1
in total by the grantee. The exercise period of the share options granted is determined
by the directors, save that such period shall not be more than 10 years from the dates of
adoption of the Share Option Schemes subject to the provisions for early termination set out
in the Share Option Schemes. Unless otherwise determined by the directors at their sole
discretion, there is no requirement of a minimum period for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised.
The exercise price of share options granted under the Share Option Schemes is determined
by the directors, but shall not be less than the highest of (i) the Stock Exchange closing
price of the Company’s shares on the date of offer of the share options; (ii) the average
Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares for the five trading days immediately
preceding the date of offer; and (iii) the nominal value of a share of the Company on the date
of offer.
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29. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)
Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to vote at shareholders’
meetings.
Under the 2003 Scheme, options were granted to eligible participants and there were
outstanding (but not yet exercised) options to subscribe for a total of approximately
104,269,000 shares as at 31 March 2014. The outstanding options granted under the 2003
Scheme shall continue to be valid and are subject to the provisions of the 2003 Scheme and
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.
The following share options were outstanding during the years ended 31 March 2014 and
2013:
For the year ended 31 March 2014
2013 Scheme
Weighted
average
exercise price
Number
per share
of options
HK$
’000

2003 Scheme
Weighted
average
exercise price
Number
per share
of options
HK$
’000

At 1 April
Lapsed during the year#
Forfeited during the year*
Granted during the year
Adjustment arising from
– Rights issue

–
–
–
0.195

–
–
–
41,200

0.440
0.482
0.258
–

86,604
(175)
(6,904)
–

–

–

–

24,744

At 31 March

0.195

41,200

0.344

104,269

#

During the year ended 31 March 2014, 175,000 share options lapsed upon cessation of
employment of the participants and the expiry of the share options in accordance with the terms
of the 2003 Scheme.

*

During the year ended 31 March 2014, 6,904,000 share options were forfeited upon cessation
of employment of the participants in accordance with the terms of the 2003 Scheme.
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29. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2013
2003 Scheme
Weighted
average
exercise price
Number
per share
of options
HK$
’000

114

At 1 April
Lapsed during the year#
Forfeited during the year*
Granted during the year
Adjustment arising from
– Share consolidation

0.130
0.136
0.093
0.065

323,650
(155,800)
(11,290)
276,460

–

(346,416)

At 31 March

0.440

86,604

#

During the year ended 31 March 2013, 155,800,000 share options lapsed upon cessation of
employment of the participants and the expiry of the share options in accordance with the terms
of the 2003 Scheme.

*

During the year ended 31 March 2013, 11,290,000 share options were forfeited upon cessation
of employment of the participants in accordance with the terms of the 2003 Scheme.
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29. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)
The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options that were outstanding as at
the end of the reporting period are as follows:
2014
Number of options
’000

Exercise price per share*#
HK$

Exercise period

10,375
10,375
10,355
10,353
15,704
15,704
15,704
15,699
18,220
18,220
2,370
2,390

0.4822
0.4822
0.4822
0.4822
0.2528
0.2528
0.2528
0.2528
0.1950
0.1950
0.1950
0.1950

01/01/2012-31/12/2016
01/01/2013-31/12/2016
01/01/2014-31/12/2016
01/01/2015-31/12/2016
01/07/2013-31/12/2017
01/07/2014-31/12/2017
01/07/2015-31/12/2017
01/07/2016-31/12/2017
18/02/2014-31/12/2017
18/02/2015-31/12/2017
18/02/2016-31/12/2017
18/02/2017-31/12/2017

Number of options
’000

Exercise price per share*
HK$

Exercise period

8,138
8,138
8,120
8,116
13,524
13,524
13,524
13,520

0.62
0.62
0.62
0.62
0.325
0.325
0.325
0.325

01/01/2012-31/12/2016
01/01/2013-31/12/2016
01/01/2014-31/12/2016
01/01/2015-31/12/2016
01/07/2013-31/12/2017
01/07/2014-31/12/2017
01/07/2015-31/12/2017
01/07/2016-31/12/2017

145,469
2013

86,604
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29. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)
*

The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in the case of rights or bonus
issues, or other similar changes in the Company’s share capital.

#

The exercise price per share as at 31 March 2014 has been adjusted with the effect of the rights
issue on 19 September 2013 in accordance with the 2003 Scheme. Further details are set out in
the Company’s announcement dated 18 September 2013.

The fair value of the equity-settled share options granted during the years ended 31 March
2014 and 2013 was estimated by Ascent Partners Transaction Services Limited, an
independent firm of professionally qualified valuers, using the binomial option pricing model,
taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. The fair
value of the equity-settled share options granted during the year ended 31 March 2014 was
HK$3,789,000 (2013: HK$8,847,000). The Group recognised a share option expense of
HK$6,933,000 during the year ended 31 March 2014 (2013: HK$4,867,000). The following
table lists the inputs to the model used:
Share options granted
Dividend yield (%)
Expected volatility (%)
Risk-free interest rate (%)
Share price at grant date
(HK$ per share)

18 February 2014
N/A
67.457
0.929

8 January 2013
N/A
85.165
0.423

0.217

0.062

The expected life of the options is based on the historical data over the past three years and
is not necessarily indicative of the exercise patterns that may occur. The expected volatility
reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which may
also not necessarily be the actual outcome.
No other feature of the options granted was incorporated into the measurement of fair value.
At the end of the reporting period, the Company had 145,469,000 (2013: 86,604,000) share
options outstanding under the Share Option Schemes, which represented approximately
7% of the Company’s shares in issue as at that date. The exercise in full of the share
options would, under the present capital structure of the Company, result in the issue of
145,469,000 additional ordinary shares of the Company and additional share capital of
HK$1,455,000 and share premium of HK$42,449,000 (before issue expenses).
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30. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS
As lessee
The Group leases certain of its properties under operating lease arrangements. Leases for
properties are negotiated for terms ranging from one to two years.
At 31 March 2014, the Group had total future minimum lease payments under noncancellable operating leases falling due as follows:
Group
2014
2013
HK$’000
HK$’000
Within one year
In the second to fifth years, inclusive

2,233
–

3,404
2,141

2,233

5,545

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had no significant operating lease
commitments (2013: Nil).

31. COMMITMENTS
At the end of the reporting period, neither the Group nor the Company had any significant
commitment (2013: Nil).

32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
The Group considers the directors of the Company to be the key management personnel,
whose compensation has been disclosed in note 8 to the financial statements.
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as at the end of the
reporting period are as follows:
Group – 2014
Financial assets

Available-for-sale equity investments
Equity investments at fair value
through profit or loss
Trade receivables
Financial assets included in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables
Derivatives component of convertible bonds
Restricted bank balances
Cash and bank balances
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Financial
assets at fair
value through
profit or loss –
held for trading
HK$’000

Loans and
receivables
HK$’000

Availablefor-sale
financial
assets
HK$’000

Total
HK$’000

–

–

14,461

14,461

176,617
–

–
1,108

–
–

176,617
1,108

–
14,804
–
–

908
–
546
83,223

–
–
–
–

908
14,804
546
83,223

191,421

85,785

14,461

291,667
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (continued)
Group – 2014 (continued)
Financial liabilities
Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost
HK$’000
Trade payables
Financial liabilities included in other payables
and accruals
Finance lease payables
Convertible bonds
Bonds

16
9,299
654
73,386
79,421
162,776
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (continued)
Group – 2013
Financial assets

Available-for-sale equity investments
Equity investments at fair value
through profit or loss
Trade receivables
Financial assets included in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables
Derivatives component of convertible bonds
Restricted bank balances
Cash and bank balances
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Financial
assets at fair
value through
profit or loss –
held for trading
HK$’000

Loans and
receivables
HK$’000

Availablefor-sale
financial
assets
HK$’000

Total
HK$’000

–

–

12,599

12,599

92,045
–

–
737

–
–

92,045
737

–
4,533
–
–

538
–
1,953
30,747

–
–
–
–

538
4,533
1,953
30,747

96,578

33,975

12,599

143,152
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (continued)
Group – 2013 (continued)
Financial liabilities
Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost
HK$’000
Trade payables
Financial liabilities included in other payables
and accruals
Finance lease payables
Convertible bonds
Bonds

72
10,333
85
65,379
70,515
146,384

Company
All the Company’s financial assets as at 31 March 2014 and 2013, including amounts
due from subsidiaries, deposits and other receivables, and cash and bank balances, are
categorised as loans and receivables, except for the derivative component of convertible
bonds which has been categorised as a financial asset at fair value through profit or loss.
All the Company’s financial liabilities as at 31 March 2014 and 2013, including amounts
due to subsidiaries, convertible bonds and bonds, are categorised as financial liabilities at
amortised cost.
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34. FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s and the Company’s financial
instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that reasonably approximate to fair
values, are as follows:
Group
Carrying amounts
2014
2013
HK$’000
HK$’000
Financial assets
Available-for-sale equity investments
Equity investments at fair value
through profit or loss
Derivative component of
convertible bonds

Financial liabilities
Financial lease payables
Convertible bonds
Bonds
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Fair values
2014
2013
HK$’000
HK$’000

14,461

12,599

14,461

12,599

176,617

92,045

176,617

92,045

14,804

4,533

14,804

4,533

205,882

109,177

205,882

109,177

654
73,386
79,421

85
65,379
70,515

722
67,510
72,618

87
65,139
70,270

153,461

135,979

140,850

135,496
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34. FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Company
Carrying amounts
2014
2013
HK$’000
HK$’000

Fair values
2014
2013
HK$’000
HK$’000

Financial assets
Derivative component of
convertible bonds

14,804

4,533

14,804

4,533

Financial liabilities
Convertible bonds
Bonds

73,386
79,421

65,379
70,515

67,510
72,618

65,139
70,270

152,807

135,894

140,128

135,409

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and bank balances, restricted bank
balances, trade receivables, trade payables, financial assets included in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables, financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals,
and amounts due from/to subsidiaries approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to
the short term maturities of these instruments.
The Group’s corporate finance team is responsible for determining the policies and
procedures for the fair value measurement of financial instruments. The corporate finance
team reports directly to the chief financial officer and the audit committee. At each reporting
date, the corporate finance team analyses the movements in the values of financial
instruments and determines the major inputs applied in the valuation. The valuation is
reviewed and approved by the chief financial officer. The valuation process and results are
discussed with the audit committee twice a year for interim and annual financial reporting.
The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at the amount at which
the instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other
than in a forced or liquidation sale. The following methods and assumptions were used to
estimate the fair values:
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34. FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
The fair values of the non-current portion of finance lease payables have been calculated by
discounting the expected future cash flows using rates currently available for instruments
with similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. The Group’s own non-performance
risk for finance lease payables as at 31 March 2014 was assessed to be insignificant. The
fair values of the liability portion of the convertible bonds and bonds were estimated by HullWhite model using an equivalent market interest rate for a similar bond with consideration of
the Group’s own non-performance risk.
The fair values of listed available-for-sale equity investments and equity investments at fair
value through profit or loss are based on quoted market prices.
The fair value of the derivative component of convertible bonds is the residual of the fair
value of convertible bonds and the fair value of liability component of convertible bonds. The
fair value of convertible bonds and the fair value of liability component of convertible bonds
have been estimated using valuation techniques for which inputs which have a significant
effect on the recorded fair value are not based on observable market data. The Group’s
derivative component of convertible bonds are categorised in level 3 of the fair value
measurement as at 31 March 2014.
Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to the valuation of derivative
component of convertible bonds:

Valuation
technique

Significant
unobservable
input

Convertible bonds

Partial differential
equation method

Risky discount
rate

15.16

1% increase/(decrease)
in discount rate would
result in decrease
in fair value by HK$1,000

Liability component
of convertible bonds

Hull-White model

Risky discount
rate

15.16

1% increase/(decrease)
in discount rate would
result in decrease/
(increase) in fair value by
HK$1,530,000/
(HK$1,578,000)

%

Sensitivity of
the input to
fair value

The directors believe that the estimated fair values resulting from the valuation technique,
which are recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position, and the related
changes in fair values, which are recorded in the statement of profit or loss, are reasonable,
and that they were the most appropriate values at the end of the reporting period.
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34. FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Fair value hierarchy
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s financial
instruments:

Assets measured at fair value:
Group
As at 31 March 2014
Fair value measurement using
Quoted prices
in active
markets
(Level 1)
HK$’000
Available-for-sale equity investments
Equity investments at fair value through
profit or loss
Derivative component of convertible bonds

Significant Significant
observable unobservable
input
inputs
(Level 2)
(Level 3)
HK$’000
HK$’000

Total
HK$’000

14,461

–

–

14,461

176,617
–

–
–

–
14,804

176,617
14,804

191,078

–

14,804

205,882

As at 31 March 2013
Fair value measurement using
Quoted prices
in active
markets
(Level 1)
HK$’000
Available-for-sale equity investments
Equity investments at fair value through
profit or loss
Derivative component of convertible bonds

Significant
Significant
observable unobservable
input
inputs
(Level 2)
(Level 3)
HK$’000
HK$’000

Total
HK$’000

12,599

–

–

12,599

92,045
–

–
4,533

–
–

92,045
4,533

104,644

4,533

–

109,177
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34. FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Assets measured at fair value: (continued)
Company
As at 31 March 2014
Fair value measurement using
Quoted prices
in active
markets
(Level 1)
HK$’000
Derivative component of convertible bonds

Significant Significant
observable unobservable
input
inputs
(Level 2)
(Level 3)
HK$’000
HK$’000

–

–

14,804

Total
HK$’000
14,804

As at 31 March 2013
Fair value measurement using
Quoted prices
in active
markets
(Level 1)
HK$’000
Derivative component of convertible bonds

Significant
Significant
observable unobservable
input
inputs
(Level 2)
(Level 3)
HK$’000
HK$’000

–

4,533

–

Total
HK$’000
4,533

The movements in fair value measurements in Level 3 during the year are as follows:
Group and Company
2014
2013
HK$’000
HK$’000
Derivative components of convertible bonds:
At 1 April

126

–

–

Transfer*
Fair value gains recognised in the statement of profit or loss

4,533
10,271

–
–

At 31 March

14,804

–
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34. FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Assets measured at fair value: (continued)
*

In the opinion of the Company’s directors, the unobservable inputs are significant to the
valuation of derivative component as at 31 March 2014. The fair value measurement
of derivative component of convertible bonds has been reclassified to level 3 fair value
measurement. The Group policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out of level 3 as of
the date of event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer.

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements between Level 1 and
Level 2 (2013: Nil).
The Group and the Company did not have any financial liabilities measured at fair value as at
31 March 2014 and 2013.

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise equity investments, convertible bonds
and bonds, cash and bank balances and restricted bank balances. The main purpose of
these financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has
various other financial assets and liabilities such as trade receivables and trade payables.
Details of the major financial instruments and the Group’s accounting policies in relation to
them are disclosed in note 2.4 to the financial statements.
The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest rate risk, credit
risk, liquidity risk and equity price risk. The board of directors reviews and agrees policies for
managing each of these risks and they are summarised below.
Interest rate risk
The Group does not have any significant exposure to the risk of changes in market interest
rates, and therefore it does not use derivative financial instruments to hedge its debt
obligations.
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)
Credit risk
The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s
policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification
procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis and the
Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant. The Group reviews the recoverable
amount of each individual trade debtor at the end of each reporting period to ensure that
adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts.
The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, which comprise cash and bank
balances, restricted bank balances, available-for-sale equity investments and equity
investments at fair value through profit or loss, arises from default of the counterparty, with a
maximum exposure equal to the carrying amounts of these instruments.
Since the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties, there is no
requirement for collateral.
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)
Liquidity risk
The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a recurring liquidity planning tool.
This tool considers the maturity of both its financial instruments and financial assets (e.g.,
trade receivables) and projected cash flows from operations.
The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility
through the use of the Group’s available cash and its available banking facilities.
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the end of the reporting period,
based on the contractual undiscounted payments, is as follows:
Group – 2014
On demand
HK$’000
Trade payables
Other payables
Finance lease payables
Convertible bonds
Bonds

Less than 3 to less than
3 months 12 months
HK$’000
HK$’000

1 to 5
years
HK$’000

Total
HK$’000

–
–
–
–
–

–
652
43
–
–

16
–
127
–
–

–
–
552
100,000
109,219

16
652
722
100,000
109,219

–

695

143

209,771

210,609

Less than 3 to less than
3 months
12 months
HK$’000
HK$’000

1 to 5
years
HK$’000

Total
HK$’000

Group – 2013
On demand
HK$’000
Trade payables
Other payables
Finance lease payables
Convertible bonds
Bonds

–
–
–
–
–

48
421
37
–
–

24
–
50
–
–

–
–
–
100,000
109,219

72
421
87
100,000
109,219

–

506

74

209,219

209,799
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)
Company – 2014
On demand
HK$’000
Convertible bonds
Bonds
Due to subsidiaries

Less than 3 to less than
3 months 12 months
HK$’000
HK$’000

1 to 5
years
HK$’000

Total
HK$’000

–
–
7,498

–
–
–

–
–
–

100,000
109,219
–

100,000
109,219
7,498

7,498

–

–

209,219

216,717

Less than 3 to less than
3 months
12 months
HK$’000
HK$’000

1 to 5
years
HK$’000

Total
HK$’000

Company – 2013
On demand
HK$’000
Convertible bonds
Bonds
Due to subsidiaries

–
–
7,498

–
–
–

–
–
–

100,000
109,219
–

100,000
109,219
7,498

7,498

–

–

209,219

216,717

Equity price risk
Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity securities decrease as a result of
changes in the value of individual securities. The Group is exposed to equity price risk
arising from individual equity investments classified as trading equity investments (note
17) and available-for-sale investments (note 16) as at 31 March 2014. The Group’s listed
investments are listed on the Hong Kong and Singapore stock exchanges and are valued at
quoted market prices at the end of the reporting period.
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every 5% change in the fair values of
the equity investments, with all other variables held constant and before any impact on tax,
based on their carrying amounts at the end of the reporting period. For the purpose of this
analysis, for the available-for-sale equity investments the impact is deemed to be on the
available-for-sale equity investment revaluation reserve and no account is given for factors
such as impairment which might impact on the statement of profit or loss.
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)
Equity price risk (continued)
Carrying
Change
amount
in the
of equity Group’s loss
investments
before tax
HK$’000
HK$’000

Change
in the
Group’s
equity*
HK$’000

2014
Investments listed in:
Hong Kong – Available-for-sale
– Held-for-trading

650
176,617

–
8,831

33
–

Singapore – Available-for-sale

13,811

–

691

Carrying
amount
of equity
investments
HK$’000

Change
in the
Group’s loss
before tax
HK$’000

Change
in the
Group’s
equity*
HK$’000

Investments listed in:
Hong Kong – Available-for-sale
– Held-for-trading

620
92,045

–
4,602

31
–

Singapore – Available-for-sale

11,979

–

599

*

Excluding accumulated losses

2013

*

Excluding accumulated losses
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)
Capital management
The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to safeguard the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.
The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in
economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made in the
objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the years ended 31 March
2014 and 2013.
The Group monitors capital on the basis of the debt-to-equity ratio calculated as total debt
divided by total equity. The debt-to-equity ratios as at the end of the reporting periods were
as follows:
Group
2014
HK$’000

2013
HK$’000

16
654
12,645
73,386
79,421

72
85
13,205
65,379
70,515

Total debt

166,122

149,256

Total equity/(deficiency in assets)

128,689

(3,331)

129%

(4,481%)

Trade payables
Finance lease payables
Other payables and accruals
Liability component of the convertible bonds
Liability component of the bonds

Debt-to-equity ratio

36. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors
on 19 June 2014.

132

ICUBE TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED 2013-2014 ANNUAL REPORT

